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Activities 1

| What's the book about?
1 Read the information on the back cover of the book.

The hero of this book, Michael, is a young lawyer. Which of these professionals
is most useful to other people, in your opinion? Think of their value to other
people’s lives and put them in order.

| adoctor ateacher alawyer a policeman

2 Lawyers are some of the most unpopular professionals in the United States.
Why is that? Look on the Internet for “lawyer jokes." List four things that
people dislike about them.

a
b
c

d

' What happens first?
1 Look at this photo. Discuss
whether the professionals in 1.1
above live and/or work in this kind
of area. Why (not)?

2 The hero of this book is a
successful lawyer. At the beginning
of the book, do you think Michael

is:
a arich man? : Yes / No
b ahappy man? Yes / No

¢ agood man? Yes / No
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CHAPTER M

Mister

Mister pointed at the dynamite around his waist.
“I pull this,” he said, “and we die.”

T he old black man got into the elevator behind me. He smelled of smoke
and life on the streets without soap. His beard and hair were

half-gray and very dirty. He was wearing sunglasses, and a long dirty coat hung
down to his knees.

He looked fat, probably because he had all his clothes on. In the winter in
Washington the street people wear all their clothes all the time. They can't leave
any of their clothes at home, because they don’t have a home.

The old man didn’t belong here. Everything here was expensive. The 400
lawyers in the building, who all worked for Drake & Sweeney, were paid an
unbelievable amount of money. I knew that because I was a Drake & Sweeney
lawyer myself.

The elevator stopped at six. The man hadn’t pushed an elevator button. When
I stepped out and turned right, he followed me. I pushed the heavy, wooden door
of a big meeting room. There were eight lawyers at the table inside and they all
looked surprised. They were looking behind me, so I turned. My friend from the
elevator was standing there. He was pointing a gun at me.




The Street Lawyer

“Put that gun down,” said one of the lawyers at the table. His name was
Rafter. He was a hard man in 2 courtroom, maybe the hardest lawyer that Drake
& Sweeney had.

Suddenly, a shot hit the ceiling, Rafter’s eyes opened wide and his mouth shut.

“Lock the door,” the man said to me. 1 locked the door of the meeting room.

“Stand against the wall.” We all stood againse the wall.

“The man took off his dirty coat and put it carefully on the large, expensive
table in the center of the room. He had five or six red sticks around his waist,
tied there with string, 1 had never seen dynamite before, but they looked like
dynamite to me.

I wanted to run and hope for a bad shot when he fired at me. But my legs
were like water. Some of the lawyers were shaking with fear and making noises
like scared animals.

“Please be quiet,” said the man, calmly. Then he took a long yellow rope and
a knife from the pocket of his pants. “You,” he said to me. “Tie them up.”

Rafter stepped forward. “Listen, friend,” he said, “what do you want?”

The second shot went into the wall, behind Rafter’s ear.

“Do not call me ‘friend,’” said the man.
“What would you like us to call you’ I asked him, quietly.

“Call me "Mister,™

I tied the eight lawyers with the yellow rope. One of them, Barry Nuzzo,
was my friend. We were the same age, thirty-two, and we had started at
Drake & Sweeney on the same day. Only our marriages were different. His was
successful and mine wasn’t. He had three kids: Claire, and I didn’t have any. [
looked at Barry and he looked at me. I knew we wete both thmkmg about
Barry's kids.

We could hear police cars outside and noises as the police entered the
building, Mister pointed at the dynamnte around his waist.

“I pull this,” he said, “and we die.”

For a second we all locked at-each other, nine white boys and ‘Mister,”

1-thought of all those terrible shoatings you-read-about in-the newspapers, A
crazy worker returns to work' afterlunch with a gun and kills everybody in his
office. There had been killings': at fast-food restaurants and playgrounds, too. And
those dead people were chlldrcn or horiest workers, Who would care about us?
We were lawyers.

Time passed.

“Whar did you eat for lunch today? Mister asked me, brcakmg a long sﬂcncc

dynamite /'dainamart/ {n) something that causes a powerful explosion
2






The Street Lawyer

He spoke clearly and, from the sound of his voice, he had had a good
education. He hadn’t always been on the streets.

“I had chicken and salad,” I said, surprised.

“Alone?”

“Nao, I met a friend.”

“How much did it cost, for both of you?”

“Thirty dollars.”

Mister didn’t like that. “Thirty dollars,” he repeated. “For two people. You
know what 1 had for lunch?”

“No.”

“I had soup. Free soup from a shelter and I was glad to get it. You could feed
a hundred of my friends for thirty dollars, you know thae?”

“Yes, Mister.”

“Call your boss.”

There was a phone on the table. I called Arthur ]acobs Eight hundred lawyers
worked for Drake & Sweeney around the world, but at seventy-nine Jacobs was
the oldest of the partners here in Washington. He answered at the first ring of the
phone, :

“Mr. Jacobs?”

“Michael! Are you OK?”

“Wonderful,” 1 said.

“What-does he want from us?”

I spoke to the man: “What do you want, Mlstel."”

“Soup with bread,” said the:mazn. “Gertic from the shelterat L Streetand
17th, They putalot of vcgetables in the soup there.”

“One soup with bread,” I said into the phone. .

“No,” said the man. “Get soup-and bread for all of us.”

“Mr. Jacobs ... " I said.

“T heard. I ¢an hear him. A shelrer for street people does carryouts! ¥

“Mr. Jacobs. Please just do it. He has a gun and dynarmte

I put the phone down.

“You,” said the man. He was ralking to me. Whats your name?” _

“Michael Brock.”

“How much money did you earn last year? Don't lie”

I thought quickly. I didn’t lie. “A hundred and twenty thousand.”

He didn’t like that. “How much did you give to poor pf-.-opleP ’

“] don’t remember. My wife does that.”

“Thank you, Mr. Brock,”

shelter /'felta/ {n} a place that protects you from danger or the weather
4



Chapter 1 — Mister

Mister pointed the gun at the other lawyers. He asked all of them the same
questions. Nate Malamud, the only partner in the room, earned more than a
million dollars.

“More than a million?” Mister said to him. “I know you. You walk past me
when I sit on the sidewalk every morning. You.never give me any money. Why
can’t you help poor people, homeless people?”

Nate was a big man with white hair. He had been with Drake & Sweeney for
thirty years. He was red in the face with embarrassment now. “I'm sorry,” he said.
“Who did the eviction?” said Mister, suddenly. And again, “Who did the

eviction?”

Nobody spoke. Nore of us understood him. But Mister wasn’t looking for
an answer. He looked ourt the window. Maybe he was thinking. Maybe he was

" dreaming. Maybe he was watching the police out there.

Qur soup and bread arrived half an hour later. There was a knock on the door
and somebody outside shouted through the door, “Your food.”

Mister shouted back: “If [ see a policeman out there, I'll kill these men.”

Then he pointed the gun at my head. The two of us walked slowly o the door.

“Unlock the door and open it very slowly,” Mister said.

There was nobody outside. The food was on the floor, near the door.

As 1 stepped ourside and bent down to pick it up, Theard a shout: “Stay
down!” A policeman stepped quickly out of the ofﬁcc opp051te and shot Mlster
through the head. -

. Mister fell without a sound, and my face was covered in blood. Whose blood’
Mister was lying on the floor. Half his head had gone; t but the sunglasses still
covered one eye."His hands were nowhere near the. dynamlte

Policemen came running from all the offices. “Are you hurt?” one of them
asked me. :

T didn’t know. I couldn't see. There was blood on.my face-and shirt and a
liquid that, I discovered later, was pare of Mister’s brain.

evict /itvikt/ (v) to legally force someone to leave their home

5



CHAPTER « "«

DeVon Hardy

“Who did the eviction?” Mister had asked. But I guess
he already knew the answer to that.

A policeman led me to the first floor of the building, where friends and family
and doctors were waiting. The doctors crowded around, but where was my
wife? Six hours in a room with a gunman, and she hadn’t come to see me. It was
funny really because my wife, Claire, was a doctor herself, at one of the biggest
hospitals in Washington.

I lay on a rable for ren minutes while doctors examined me to make sure I was
all right. Then my secretary, Polly, arrived. There were tears in her eyes

“Where’s Claire?” I asked her.

“I called the hospital. She’s working.”

Polly knew there wasn't much left of the marriage.
“Are you OK?” she asked.

“I think so.” '




Chapier 2 — DeVon Hardy

“I’ll take you home.”

I was pleased someone was telling me what to do. My thoughts came into my
head slowly. It was like [ was under water.

We left the Drake & Sweeney building by a back door. There were pohce cars
everywhere and ambulances and television vans, even a fire truck.

“I'm alive! P'm alive!” I realized, smiling for the first time. “I'm alive.” T
looked up to heaven and said a very big “thank you.” When I got home to our
apartment on P Street in Georgetown, Claire wasn't there.

I sat in the empty apartment and thought about her. We had met the week
after | moved to Washington. I was just out of Yale with a grear job. She came
from one of Americas oldest families. We were fond of each other, we got married.

But Drake & Sweeney make you work very hard the fiest year. I worked
fifteen hours a day, six days a week. 1 saw Claire on Sundays and we went out
together when I wasn't too tired. ‘

For the last five years I had worked about 200 hours a menth. That’s eight
hours every day for six days with two or three hours on Sunday.

But young lawyers at Drake & Sweeney don’t complain about long hours.
Fewer than one in ten become partners, and everybody wants to be that one in
ten because you earn at least a million dollars a year.

Claire was good about it for the first few months, but then she got tired of
having'a husband who was never there and I didn’t blame her. There are a lot
of divorces at Drake &8 Sweeney. Long hours at work, each hour paid for by a
client, are more imporrant than a happy wife.

By the end of our first year together, Claire was unhappy and we weren't
talking together very much. She decided to go to medical school and I thought
that was a great idea. Drake & Sweeney were telling me that I was a possible
future partner. I just had to work even harder. When Claire was studying, I didn
* feel so guilty abour that.

But Claire didn't just study. She worked unbelievably long hours. She had
decided she wanted to be a great doctor. Soon we were playing a crazy game
called “I-can-work-harder-than-you.” And another game called “my job is more
important than your job because I'm a doctor/lawyer.”

My boss, Arthur Jacobs, of course, was on my team. He had become a partner
in Drake & Sweeney at the age of thirty. The youngest ever partner. And he
would soon be the oldest ever wotking partner. The law was his life. All three of
his divorced wives could tell you thar.

divorce /da'vars/ {n/v) the legal ending of a marriage
client /'klaiant/ {n) someone who pays for advice or services from a person or organization

7



The Street Lawyer

I wolke up suddenly. I had fallen asleep in an armchair at the apartment and
Claire was sitting in a chair next to me.

“Where were you today?” [ said.

“At the hospital.”

“Ar the hospital? Nine of us are in a room with a crazy man and a gun for
six hours. We get lucky and escape. Eight families come and see their relative
because they're interested in whether or not he's alive. And how do T get home?
My secretary drives me.”

“T couldn’t be there.”

“Oh, no! Of course you couldn’t be there. How silly of me!”

“I couldn’t be there because the police asked all doctors to stay at their
hospitals until the situation at Drake & Sweeney ended. They always do thar
when there’s a possible shooting.”

“Oh. Did you call?”

“T tried. 1 guess there were a lot of people trying.”

&

Next morning we made breakfast together. We ate in the kitchen, watching
the small television. The six o’clock news showed the Drake & Sweeney building,
and you could see Mister looking out of the window.

The television news said the dynamite wasn real. The sticks were - made of
wood and Mister had painted them red. The gun was real enough, though. It was
a .44, stolen, Mister’s real name was DeVon Hardy. He was forcy-five. He had
fought in Viernam. He had been in prison a few times for stealing, but he wasn't
a big criminal. And he was homeless with no known family.

That morning’s Washington Post had more details.

According to someone called Mordecai Green, the Director of the 14th
Street Law Center, DeVon Hardy had recently lost his job. Then he became
homeless.

He was living in an old warehouse. This wasn’t unusual, A lot of homeless
people move into empty buildings because they have no money for their own
place,

DeVon Hardy had recently been evicred from the warehouse, as an illegal
squatter. Lawyers are responsible for evictions. “Who did the eviction?” Mister
had asked. But I guess he already knew the answer to that.

And now I knew it, too. Drake & Sweeney had thrown Mister into the streets.

director /di'rektar, dar-/ (n) someone whao controls or manages a company or organization
warahouse /"werhaus/ {n) a big building for storing large quantities of things

squatter /skwatz/ {n} someone who fives in a building without permission and without paying
rent
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7] Were you right?

Look at your answers to Activity 1.2.2 on page iv.

1 How much money did Michael earn last year? ...,
2 Wit is PICHEC] UNNEEPNT oo s s mins s s s st ssoss Frasasss s (i

3 In your opinion, how could Michael be a better person? ..o

"7 What more did you learn?

What more did you learn? Answer these questions. Write the names.

1 Who may be Drake & Sweeney's hardest lawyer?

2 Who is thirty-two years old and has three children?

3 Who has been at Drake & Sweeney for almost fifty years?

4 Who earned more than a million dollars last year?

5 Who has no children and works as a doctor in a Washington hospital?
6 Who is the Director of the 14th Street Law Center?

7 Who recently lost his job and was evicted from his home?

10




The Street Lawyer

| Language in use
Look at the sentence on the right. Then
put the information in the sentences
below into a single sentence in the same
way. Use who, which or whose.

The 400 lawyers in the building,
who all worked for Drake &

Sweeney, were paid an unbelievable
amount of money.

1 DeVon Hardy was wearing all his clothes. The clothes were very dirty.
Devon Hardy was wearmg ail his clothes, which were very d.r‘hi

2 The lawyers looked surprised. The lawyers weren't expecting visitors.

3 Mister tied the lawyers up. Mister’s real name was DeVon Hardy.
4 Mr. Jacobs spoke to the L Street shelter. The shelter gave free soup to the poor.

5 Mister wanted to know who was responsible for the eviction. Mister was
homeless.

6 Drake & Sweeney lawyers didn't complain about long hours. The lawyers worked
fifteen hours a day.

| What's next?
Discuss this question and circle your answer.

1 Michael believes that Drake & Sweeney evicted DeVon Hardy from his home. If
the eviction was illegal, Drake & Sweeney have committed a crime. They may be
responsible for the old man'’s death. What do you think Michael will do?

a Nothing. It's not his business.
b Find out about the eviction, but keep quiet about it, because Drake & Sweeney

are his employers.
¢ Find out about the eviction and go to the police or the newspapers.

11




Mordecai Green

Mordecai Green was a warm, caring man whose work was
on the streets. He was a lawyer with a heart.
had told Polly I would be at work today—the day after Mister came into the
office. But for the first time ever, I didn’t go to work when I was well enough
to go. Just as it started to snow, I got into my car, a Lexus, and drove through the
streets of Washington. The snow came down harder and harder. I just drove.
Polly’s voice came over the car phone. She sounded worried. “Where are you?”

“Who wants to know?”
“A lot of people. Arthur Jacobs wants to see you. You have clients waiting for

you.”




Chapter 3 — Mordecai Green

“Pen fine, Polly. Tell everybody I'm at the docror’s office.”

“Are you?” :

“No, but I could be.”

I drove around Georgetown, not going anywhere, just driving. The clouds
were dark. The snow would be heavy. People were hurrying through the snow
on the sidewalks. I saw a homeless man and wondered if he knew DeVon Hardy.
Where do street people go in a snowstorm?

I called che hospital. I wanted to ask Claire to meet me for lunch. But the
hospital said Claire was busy and they couldnt contact her. That was the end of
our lunch rogether.

I turned and went northeast, past Logan Circle, into the gang area of the city,
and drove unti! I found the 14th Swreec Law Center. I parked at 14th and Q,
certain that I would never see the expensive Lexus again.

The 14th Street Law Center was in an old, tall, red brick house that had seen
better days. The windows on the top floor were protected by pieces of wood over
the glass. The door wasn' locked. T went in slowly, out of the snow, and entered
another world.

It was a law office all right, but chere was no expensive furniture here, not like
at Drake & Sweeney. 1 stepped into a large room which had three metal desks,
each covered in files. There were more files on old pieces of carpet on the floor.
The computers and the only photocopier were ten years old. There was a large
photograph of Martin Luther King on one wall. The office was busy and dusty
and interesting,.

“You looking for somebody?” asked a woman at a desk with the name Sofia
Mendoza on it. She looked Mexican. She wasn't smiling, but I did. It was funny.
Nobody at Drake & Sweeney would talk to a visitor like that. They would lose
their job. But I would soon learn how important Sofia was to the 14th Street Law
Center.

“I'm looking for Mordecai Green,” I said. But just then he came out of his
office. Sofia went back to her work.

Green was an enormous black man, at least two meters tall and very heavy.
He was in his early fifties, with a gray beard and round red glasses. He shouted
something about a file to Sofia and then turned to me.

- “Can T help you?”

“I want to talk to you about DeVon Hardy,” I said and gave him my Drake &

Sweeney card. '

file /£ari/ {n) a collection of papers containing information about a person ot subject
photocopier /fouta kapiz/ (n) a machine that coples documents onto paper

13




The Street Lawyer

He looked at me for a few seconds and then looked quickly at Sofia, who was
speaking in fast Spanish into the phone. Mordecai Green walked back into his
office and I followed him in. The office was a small room with no windows and
the desk and floor covered in files and [aw books.

“Sic down,” he said. “But you might get diry. What do you wane”

I sac down. “I was in the room with DeVon Hardy when he was shot,” I said.
“I couldn’t chink this moening. I didn’t want to go to wotk. So I camne here. Any
idea why he did ie?”

“Because of the eviction,” said Mordecai Green. “A few months ago he moved
into an old warchouse at the corner of Florida Avenue. It wasn't a bad place fora
homeless person. It had a roof. some toilets, water.”

“Who owned the warehouse?”

Mordecai pulled a thin file from one of the piles on his desk. It was exactly
the one he wanted. He looked at the file for a minute.

“The warehouse was owned by a company called RiverOaks.”

“And RiverOaks's lawyers are Drake & Sweeney?”

“Probably.”

“Is that all?”

“No. I heard that DeVon Hardy and the others got no warning of the
eviction.”

“But you can evice squatters with no warning.”

“Oh yes. You can’t evict tenants without 4 warning, though.”

“Was DeVon Hardy a squatter or a tenant?”

“I don’t know.”

I thoughr of another question. “How did DeVon Hardy know about Drake &
Sweeney?”

“Who knows? He wasn stupid, though. Crazy, but not stupid.”

I had raken enough of his time. He looked at his watch, I [ooked at mine. We
exchanged phone numbers and promised to stay in contact.

Mordecal Green was a warm, caring man whose work was on the streets,
protecting hundreds of nameless clients. He was a lawyer with a heart.

On the way out, Sofia didn't look up from her conversation on the phone.
The Lexus was still there, covered by an inch of snow.

-avenue Mave,my/ (n) a big street in a town or city
tenant /tenant/ {n) someoene who livas in a house or room and pays rent to the owner

14






CHAPTER

Mom and Dad

“Welcome to the world, son. You think the guys in factory jobs like
what they're doing? You're getting rich, they arent.”

frer I left Mordecai Green’s office, I drove around and around the city while

the snow fell. As a lawyer with hours to work, which my clients paid for, I
couldn’t do this sort of thing—just moving with the traffic, not going anywhere.
But I was doing it now.

I didn’t want to go back to the empty apartment. I didn't want to go to a cafeteria,
either. So I drove. I went through poor parts of the city I had never seen before.

Then I went back to Drake & Sweeney. I went up in Mister’s elevator again,
walked along the hall to my office, and sat down at my desk. For the first time
wondered how much everything in my office had cost—the expensive old desk,
the red leather armchairs, and the Persian carpets. Weren't we just chasing money,
here in this building? Why did we work so hard to buy a more expensive carpet
or an older desk? Was that a good reason to work? Was this the life I wanted?

In my expensive room, I thought of Mordecai Green, giving his time to help
people who had nothing,.

I had about ten pink telephone messages from clients on my desk and none of
them interested me. I didn't like this work. My clients were big companies, and I
worked on their lawsuits against other big companies. The lawsuits continued for
years. Maybe a hundred lawyers worked on each one, all sending paper to each
other.

Polly came in and brought me cookies. She put them on the table with
a big smile before she left for home for the day. A couple of lawyers came in,
said “How you doin?” and left again. They were probably on their way
home too.

Alone in the office again, I picked up one big file and then another one.
Which lawsuit did I want to work on today? I didn’t want to work on any of
them. I couldn’t do it. It didn’t make any sense to me now.

I went to my computer and began searching our client files. RiverOaks was
started in 1977 in Hagerstown, Maryland. It was a private company, so it was
difficult to get information about it.

RiverOaks was the client of a Drake & Sweeney lawyer called Braden Chance.
I didn’t know the name but I looked again in our computer files. Braden Chance

lawsuit /'lasut/ (n) a disagreement between two people or organizations that is taken to a
court of law for a decision

16



Chapter 4 — Mom and Dad

was a partner in real estate, on the fourth floor. He was forty-four years old,
married, and went to law school at Duke.

There were forty-two files for RiverOaks. Four were about evictions.
RiverOaks had bought a warchouse on Florida Avenue. On January 27, some
squatters were evicted from the warehouse—one of them, as I now knew, was
DeVon Hardy. The file on the eviction itself had a number next to it. The
number meant that only Braden Chance could open the file. I wrote down the
file’s name and number and walked down to the fourth floor.

When I got there, I saw a legal assistant and asked him where Braden
Chance’s office was. He pointed to an open door across the hall. Although it was
late, Chance was at his desk, looking busy. He didn’t like me just walking in from
the hall. At Drake & Sweeney, you phoned first and made an appointment. But
that didn’t worry me very much.

real estate /'rial 1,stert/ (n) property like houses or land
17



The Steeet Lawyer

Chance didn’t ask me to sit down, but I did and he didn’t like that cither.

“You were next to the guy when he got shot,” he said unpleasantly; after [ said
DeVon Hardy'’s name.

“Yes,” I said.

“Terrible for you, huh?”

“It’s over. Mr. Hardy, who's now dead, was evicted from a warehouse. Was it

- one of our evictions?”

“It was,” said Chance, but he didn't look at me as he spoke. I guessed that
Arthur Jacobs had looked at the file with him, earlier in the day. “Whar abour
it?” added Chance.

“Was he a squatter?”

“Of course he was. They're all squatters, aren't they? Our client just got them
out of the warehouse.”

“Are you sure he was a squatter? Not a tenant?”

Chance looked angry. “What do you want?”

“Could I see the file?”

“No.”

“Why not?”

“Pm very busy. Will you please leave?”

“If he was a squatter, there’s no problem, Why can't I see the file?”

“Because it’s mine, and I said no. How's thac?”

“Maybe that’s not good enough.”

He stood, his hands shaking as he pointed to the door. I smiled at him and left.

The legal assistant from the hall had heard evcrythmg and we exchanged looks
and smiles as T passed his desk. “The man’s a fool,” he said, very quiedy. I smiled
again. “Yes.”

But what was Chance hiding? There was something wrong and it-was in that
file. T had to get it. I went back to my office to thmk. The phone rang, It was
Claire,

“Why are you at the office?” She spoke very s[owly and her voice was colder
than the snow outside. : _

1 fooked at my watch. I remembered we had arranged o have dinner rogether
at the apartment. “I, uh, well, a client called from the West Coast ‘T had used
this lie before. It didn'c marter.

“I'm waiting, Michael. Should I start to eat?”
~ “No, I'll be back af the apartment as fast as [ can.”

I ran from the building into the snowstorm, but [ chdnt rcally care that ~

another evening rogether had been ruined.
L4
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Chapter 4 ~ Mom and Dad

A few hours later, Claire and I were having our coffee by the kitchen window.
The snow had finally stopped. I had an idea. “Let’s go to Florida,” 1 said.

She gave me a cold look. “Florida?”

“OK, the Bahamas. We can leave tomorrow.”

“I’s irnpossible.”

“Not at all. T don't have to work for a few days ...”

“Why no?”

“Because I'm going crazy, and at Drake & Sweeney if you go crazy, then you
get a few days off.”

“You are going crazy.”

“ know. It’s fun, actually. People are nice to you. They smile. Polly brought
me cookies today. I like it.”

The cold look returned and she said, “I can.”

And that was the end of that. ] knew she couldn't do it. She was a doctor,
people had appointments with her. But.also, she didnt want to go with me.

“OK,” I said. “Then I'm going to Memphis for 2 couple of days to see my
parents.”

“Oh really,” she said. She didnt even sound interested.

“I need to see my parents. It’s been almost a year. And this is a good time, 1
think. I don’t like the snow and I don't feel like working. Like I said, I'm going
crazy.” ‘

Claire got up and went to bed. “Well, call me,” she said over her shoulder. 1
knew that was the end of my marriage. And I hated to have to tcfl my mother.

@
My parents were in their early sixties and trying to enjoy not working for the first
time in their lives. Mom had been a bank manager. Dad had been a lawyer in
Adlanta. They had worked hard, saved hard, and given me the best of everything.
Dad always wanted me to be a lawyer, like him.

I rented a car at Memphis airport and drove east to the rich part of the city
where the white people live. The blacks had the center of the city and the whites
the area outside. Sometimes the blacks moved out from the center into a white
area and then the whites moved further out.

My parents lived on a golf course in 2 new glass house. You could see the golf
course from every window. [ had called from the airport, so Mom knew I was
coming.

“What's wrong?” she asked when she saw me.

“Nothing. I'm fine.”

goif course /'galf kars, 'galf~/ (n) an area of land where you play galf
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The Street Lawyer

“Where’s Claire? You guys never call us, you know. [ haven't heard her voice in
two months.”

“Claire’s fine, Mom. We're both alive and healchy and working very hard.”

“Are you spending enough time together?”

“No.”

“Are you spending any time together?”

“Not much.” I saw the tears in her eyes. “I'm sorry, Mom. It’s lucky we don't
have kids.”

To talk about something else, I told her the story of Mister.

“Are you all right?” she asked, a look of shock on her face.

“Of course. 'm here, aren’t I? The company wanted me to take a couple of
days’ holiday, so I came home.”

“You poor thing. Claire, and now this.”

Later chart afternoon, my dad and I played golf.

“Dad, 'm nor very happy at Drake & Sweeney,” [ said. “I don't like what I'm
doing.”

“Welcome to the world, son. You think the guys in facrory jobs like what
they're doing? You're getting rich, they arent. Be happy.”

He was happy. He was winning ar the golf. Ten minutes later he said, “Are
you changing jobs?”

“I'm thinking about it.”

“Why don’t you just say what you're trying to say?”

As usual, I felt weak and like I was running away from something,

“I'm thinking about working for the homeless,” I said. “As a lawyer,” [ added
quickly.

Dad didn’t stop playing. He hit a ball into the distance. “I'd hate to see you
throw ir all away, son,” he said. “You'll be a partner in a few years.” We walked
after his ball. “A street guy's killed in front of you and you have to change the
world? You just need a few days away from work.”

Is char all?

golf /'ga:If, 'gmlf? (n) a game in which you hit a small white ball into holes in the ground
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1 Were you right?

Look back at Activity 2.4. What does Michael decide to do about:

g [N 6121700 [ | d o N S S ———
2 his marriage?
3 his job?

| What more did you learn?

1 Compare the 14th Street Law Center with Michael's office at Drake &
Sweeney. In which office or offices can these be found?

metal desks  Persian carpets  an old photocopier  windows
pieces of carpets acomputer files aphoto of Martin Luther King
red leather armchairs dustanddirt an expensive desk

The Law Center Michael's office Both offices
| metal CE‘“S

2 Who says these words? Write the names. Then discuss what they tell you
about that person and their part in the story.

“You locking for somebody?”
"Sit down. But you might get dirty."
“Because it's mine, and | said no."

“I'm waiting, Michael. Should | start to eat?”
“Are you spending any time together?”

- a N o o

"Welcome to the world, son.”
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The Street Lawyer
J0 ] Language in use
Look at the sentence on the right. Then 1 haven't heard her
write similar sentences. ' voice in two months.

1 Michael and Claire last had a vacation three years ago.

3 Michael last took a day off work over eighteen months ago.

4 Michael and Claire last went out for dinner together four months ago.
5 Michael's father and mother gave up work three years ago.
6 It is about two years since Michael beat his father at golf.

7 Michael's mother last saw Claire months ago.

1] What's next?

Michael is changing. He is moving toward being a “lawyer with a heart.” What
do you think? Write Yes or No.

1 Will he take his father's advice and go back to work?

2 Will he give up working for Drake & Sweeney completely?
3 Will he spend more time with his wife and maybe save his marriage?




CHAPTER a

Lontae Burton

Inside were a young mother and her children, all dead. The mother had
started the engine of the old car and left it running,

f course the apartment was empty when I returned Friday nigh, but

there was a note in the kitchen. Just like me, Claire had gone home to
her parents in Providence for a couple of days. I knew Claire wanted to end the
marriage, too. I just didn’t know how badly.

I went for a long walk. It was very cold outside, with a strong wind. I passed
beautiful homes with families in them, eating and laughing and enjoying the -
warmth.

Then I moved onto M Street. Friday night on M was always fun time; the
bars and coffee shops were full, and people were waiting in line to get into the

restaurants.
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Chapter 5 - Lonrae Burton

I stopped at the window of a music club, listening to sad music with snow over
my feet, watching the young couples talk and laugh. For the first time in my life,
I didlu’t feel young, I was thirty-two, but in the last five years I had worked more
than most people do in twenty. [ was tired. Those people in there would never
look at me now.

I went back to the apartment. At some time after nine, the phone rang, It was
Mordecai Green. “Are you busy?” he asked.

“To do what?”

“To work. The shelters are full. We don't have enough helpers.”

“I've ... never done that kind of work.”

“Can you put butter on bread?”

“I think so.”

“Then you're the man for us. We're at a church on 13th and Euclid.”

“Ull be there in twenty minutes.”

1 changed into the oldest clothes I had, jeans and an old blue jacker, and rook
most of my money out of my wallet. As I closed the aparcment door behind me, 1
was excited and I didn’t exactly know why.

I parked the Lexus apposite the church. The attack T half expected didn't
happen. No gangs. The snow kept the streets empty and safe, for now. I went into
the church, down into a big room below it, and entered the world of the homeless.

It was unbelievable how many people were in that room. Volunteers were
giving out blankets and apples. Mordecai was pouring fruit juice into paper cups
and talking all the time. A line waited patiently for food ar a table.

I went to Mordecai and he said hello like I was an old friend. “It’s crazy,” he
said. “One big snowstorm and we work all night.” He showed me the bread, the
butcer; the meat, and the cheese, “Its real complicated. You do ten with meat and
then ten with cheese. OK?”

“Yeah.”

“You learn fast.” Then he disappeared.

I made ten sandwiches quickly, then I slowed and watched all the people. Most
of the homeless Jooked down at the floor. Most of them said “thank you” to the
volunteers when they got the food. Then they ate slowly. Even the children were
careful with their food.

Mordecai came back and started making sandwiches next to me. “Where does
the food come from?” [ asked him.

“Food bank. People give it. Tonight were lucky because we have chicken—
usually it's just vegetables.”

volunteer /,valon'ti/ (n) someone who offers to do samething for no pay
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The Street Lawyer

“How many shelters like this are there in the city?”

“This isn’t actually a shelter. The church kindly opens its doors when the
weather’s bad. When the doors close, they go out again.”

I tried to understand this. “Then where do these people live?”

“Some are squatters. They're the lucky ones. Some live on the streets, some in
parks, some in bus starions, some under bridges. Usually ic’s OK, but they cant
stay out in the open tonight. It’s too cold. They have to go to one of the shefters.”

“How many shelters are there?”

“About twenty. Two are closing soon. No money.”

“How many beds?”

“About five thousand.”

“And how many homeless?”

“Good question. They're a difficult group to count. Maybe ten thousand.”

I thought about that. Then I asked Mordecai about himself. “You have a
family?”

“Yes. A wife. Three sons. One’s in college, one’s in the army. And ... and we lost
our third boy on the streets ten years ago. He was killed. Gangs. Whar about you?”

“Married. No kids.”

Mordecai disappeared again. A helper brought cookies. I took four of them
and walked to a corner where a young mother was aslecp with a baby under her
arm and two small children half asleep under blankets.

The oldest boy's eyes opened wide when he saw the cookies in my hand. I
gave him one. His eyes shone as he took it and ate all of ie. Then he wanted
another one. He was small and thin, no more than four years old. The mother
woke up, saw the cookies, and smiled.

“What’s your name?” I said to the boy. After two cookies he was my friend
for life.

“Ontario.”

“How old are you?”

He showed me four fingers,

“Four?” I said.

He said yes and put his hand out for another cookie, which I gladly gave him.
[ wanted to give him things. Anything he wanted. '

“Where do you live?” T whispered.

“In a car,” he whispered back. “You got more apple juice?”

“Sure.” I went to the kitchen and got him 2 cup of apple juice and more
coakies.

The mother was sleeping again. Like many homeless people, she moved a lot
in her sleep. She was cold. I took my jacket off and put it over her.
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The Street Lawyer

Then the baby cried and woke her. Without thinking, I took the baby, smiling
at the mother all the time. She was happy to let me hold it so she could get some
sleep. I stayed there until three in the morning,

@
The next day was Saturday. Since Tuesday, when I met Mister, I hadn’t worked
even one hour for Drake & Sweeney. 1 lay in bed. T hated the work at Drake &
Sweeney. I didn't want to go back. Ever.

T had breakfast at a café on M and wondered what Ontario was havlng for
breakfast. Then I went shopping. Candy and small toys for the kids, soap for
them all, warm clothes in lots of children’s sizes. I had never had so much fun
spending two hundred dollars. And Iwanted o spend more. I wanted to put that
family in a hotel for 2 month. I wanted ro start a lawsuir against: the person who
had made them homeless. I couldn’t wait to have Qntario’s family a5 my clients.

I went back to the church, leaving all the toys and clothes in the car, but
Ontario’s family weren't there. J'asked Mordecai where they were.

“Who knows? The homeless-go from kitchen to kltchen, sheltcr to shelrer.”

k4

‘Next morning, Sunday, I had. the small televisionin the kll:chen on-while I ate

breakfast. But the TV news stopped me from eating. I heard the words, but 1
didn’t want to believe them, I walked toward the television, My feet were heavy,
my heart was cold, my mouth was open in shock and disbelief.

Sometime around 11 p.M., Washington police fourid 2 small car near Fort
Totten Park, in a gang area in the northeast of the cicy. It was parked on che
street. Inside were a young mother and het children, all dead: The mother had
started the engine of the old car and left it running to keep the famlly warm, The
air in the car poisoned them while they slept.

They gave the mother’s name: It was Lontae Burton. The baby was Temeko
The other childréen were Alonzo and Ontario.

Their candy and toys and soap and clothes were still in my car,
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CHAPTER H

A New Person

Now 1, too, carried my photograph of a 22-year-old black mother
who had died for nothing in a car.

was at the 14th Street Law Center. “How much would a funeral cost?” I asked

Mordecai.

“I don't know. Are you interested?”

“I want them to have a good funeral.”

“OK, then. Let’s arrange it now.”

We got into Mordecai’s old Ford Taurus. The Burton family’s bodies were in
the morgue of the General Hospital. Mordecai entered like he owned the place.

“I'm Mordecai Green, lawyer for the Burton family,” he informed an anxious
young man behind the desk.

A doctor from the hospital arrived and Mordecai pushed open the big metal
door. Inside the white room were lines of bodies, covered in sheets. Their names
were on little pieces of paper tied to their toes.

funeral /'fyunaral/ (n) an occasion when people say goodbye to someone who has died

morgue /morg/ (n) a building where dead bodies are kept before they are burned or put in the
ground
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The Street Lawyer

We stopped in a corner. “Lontae Burton,” said the doctor, and pulled the
sheet down to her waist. It was Ontario’s mother all right, in a white dress. She
looked the same as when I saw her alive a few days ago. She looked like she was
sleeping. I couldn’t stop staring at her.

“That’s her,” said Mordecai in a confident and loud voice, like he'd known her
for years.

Only one sheet covered the children. They were lying in a line with their
hands by their sides like little soldiers. I wanted to touch Ontario. I wanted to tell
him I was sorry. I wanted to wake him up, take him home, give him some food,
give him everything he could ever want.

“That’s them,” said Mordecai.

I looked up to heaven and I heard a voice in my head say, “Don't let it happen
again.

The doctor took us to an office. We helped the assistant make a list of
everything that had been found with the family. My old blue jacket was the best
thing they owned.

“Do you want it back?” Mordecai asked me.

“No.”




Chapter 6 — A New Person

I waited outside in the car while Mordecai arranged the funeral in another
office. He told me the price would go up if they saw my expensive clothes. In
lessthan a week I had seen five dead street people. First Mister had changed my
life, now Ontario had broken my heart.

There was a knock on the car window. I jumped. “It’s five thousand dollars, all
four,” Mordecai shouted through the closed car window.

“Yeah, yeah,” I said, and he disappeared back into the hospiral.

Soon he was back, driving fast. “The funeral will be Tuesday at the church
here at the hospiral. The newspapers will be there. And television. I’s a big story.”

“Thanks, Mordecai,” | said.

“After the funeral, there’s going to be a march, 2 march to the government
buildings on Capirol Hill for the Burton family. Television is going to film it, the
newspapers are going to write about ic. .. Are you QK?”

“No.”

&
1 called in sick Tuesclay. At ven T left for the funeral. Tt was a very nice church.
Beautiful. It didn’t open its doors to the homeless and I could understand why.
I sat alone. I could see Mordecai with two people I didn’t know. The TV people
were in one corner,

1 could also see the coffins. The baby’s coffin was very small. Ontario’s coffin
and his brother’s were bigger, but not much bigger. Lontac Burton’s parents were
dead, but her grandmother was there. She put flowers on the coffins and for
a terrible second T thought she was going o open them. I had never been to a
black funeral before and I didn’t know what to expect. But I had seen old film of
coffins open at funerals.

After the funeral, there was the march to Capirol Hill. There were big photos of
Loneae Burcon everywhere, and under her face the words “WHO KILLED LONTAE?”

On Capitol Hill Mordecai spoke to the people. He didn't calk about the
homeless. He talked about the last hours of the Burton family. He talked about
the baby’s lasc meal, in the church. He talked about the cookies the boys had
eaten.

He described how the litde family lefe che church and went back onto the
streets, into the snowstorm where Lontae and her children lived only a few more
hours. Mordecai described things he didn’t actually know had happened, but
I didn’t care and the crowd didn't either. When he described the family trying
to get warm before they died, I heard women crying around me. If chis man,
Mordecai Green, could make a crowd cry like this, he must be a grear lawyer.

coffin kofin/ {n) the box in which a dead person is put
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The Strees Lawyer

When Mordecai finished we marched to the Capitol, the government
building, carrying the coffins. I had never been on a march like this before. Rich
people don't march; their world is safe and clean and there are laws to keep them
happy. But now 1, too, carried my photograph of a 22-year-old black mother
who had died for nothing in a car. I wasn't the same person as I had been before
Mister and Ontario came into my life, and I could never be that person again.

So I accepted when Mordecai Green phoned me a few days later and invited
me to a restaurant near Dupont Circle. And when he invited me to join the 14th
Streer Law Center, I accepted his offer of a job, too.

“We can pay you thirty thousand dollars a year,” smiled Mordecai. “You'll be
a partner. Let’s see Drake & Sweeney beat that.”

1 smiled too. I nearly told him about the file I needed from Drake & Sweeney,
the file that would give us the story of DeVon Hardy's eviction. Bur I didn't.

@
That nighe, I told Claire my news. It was almost ten and we were sitting in our
favorite chairs with glasses of water. After a few minutes I said, “We need to tall.”

“What is it?” she asked, unworried.

“I'm thinking of leaving Drake & Sweeney.”

“Oh, really.” She either expecred this or wanted to secem calm. [ had told her
all about Lontae Burton and her family.

“Yes, I can’t go back there.”

“Why not?”

“The worlds boring and unimportant. I want to do something to help people.
I told you about Mordecai Green. His Law Center has offered me a job. I'm
starting Monday.”

“How much did he offer you?”

“Thirty thousand a year.”

“Thar’s ninety thousand dollars a year less than you carn now.”

“You don’t do work for the homeless for che money.”

As young law and medical students we had wanted to help people. We told
ourselves then that money was not important. And now?

“I'm tired,” she said. She finished her wine and went to the bedroom.

The next day, she visited a divorce lawyer. I promised to leave the apartment
by the weekend.
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T Were you right?

Look back at Activity 3.4. Then complete these sentences with does or doesn’t.

1 Michael uasunumseas
2 MR s
T

" What more did you learn?

take his father's advice to go back to work.
give up working for Drake & Sweeney.

spend more time with his wife.

Read this newspaper report about Lontae Burton and her family. Write the

missing words.

Family Found Dead in Car

t abour 11 p.M. last

Saturday night, police found

street near Fort Talbot Park.
Inside it were a young black

small children. They had left
the engine running to keep

from the engine had come into
the car and killed them while they
The woman’s name was Lontae
Burton. Her three children were

There are only twenty shelters

and two of them are closing soon
because there is not enough money
to keep them " .cvceivnnnvrinrninnns
There are beds for maybe half of
the homeless in the shelters and
churches, and a few good people

of the Burton family. Mordecai
Green, leader of the 14th Street
1s Center will chen

Temeko (six % .....cooovvevnrcrrcrcnne )
Alonzo (2), and Ontario

(s s ). Many of the
city'’s homeless people have suffered
recently because 7 ...

the snowstorms and very cold

8

Capitol Hill,

e e e




Language in use

Look at the sentence on the right. Then write
similar sentences. Michael is doing a lot of
things for the first time these days.

1

Michael visits a shelter for the homeless.
Later He Says: wllnmsimstinsmmii
He gives out sandwiches to the hungry.

The Street Lawyer

| 1 had never been on a march ’
. like this before. ;
S T s =

HBSAYS! oo s miii s S S s s R

He talks to a homeless family.

FEH BN oo S 3 s R A P T

He buys clothes and toys for poor children.

T 1 S

He is suddenly interested in helping the poor.

et e e S A

What's next?
Discuss these questions.

1 Michael is going to leave Drake & Sweeney. How can he find out about the

eviction if he doesn't work there any longer?

2 What made Claire decide to divorce Michael? Can he save his marriage?
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CHAPTER

Braden Chance and RiverOaks

The note read, “Top key is to Chances door. Bottom key is
to the file drawer under the window.”

went back to Drake & Sweeney for my last day. They didnt want me to

leave. There was a lot of work and they didn't want to find someone new. I
was invited to breakfast with Arthur Jacobs in the partners’ private dining room
on the eighth floor. How could I turn my back on a world of breakfasts in the
partners’ dining room? That was the idea.

Over breakfast, Arthur suggested that I could stop working at Drake &
Sweeney for a year and work pro bono* at the Law Center. He said that Drake &
Sweeney should do more pro bono work. He offered to pay the difference between
the Law Center’s thirty thousand a year and what I earned at Drake & Sweeney.

I smiled. I would be Drake & Sweeney’s pro bono boy for a year and they
could all feel good about themselves. During that year, a partner would take my
clients. I would return after a year, happy, and take my clients back.

Actually, I didn’t say no immediately. They had at least tried. Arthur often
talked about pro bono work, though clients and their paid hours always came
first. But I thought about the offer and then I said no. By now I hated my old
work too much to go back to it. I didnt like the old me that had done the work
very much, either.

I was trying to explain to Arthur that I was a different man now, when Braden
Chance sat down at a table not far from ours. He didn't see me at first, but then I
saw him staring at me.

“Good morning, Braden,” I said loudly.

Arthur turned around to see who I was talking to. “You know him?” he asked
quietly.

“We've met,” I said.

“He’s a fool,” said Arthur, very quietly. It was the same word the legal assistant
had used about Chance.

When I got back to my office, there were two files on my desk. They hadn’t
been there before my breakfast with Arthur. In the first one there was a list of
names headed “People Evicted: RiverOaks.” Number four was DeVon Hardy.
Number ten was Lontae Burton and three children.

I sat there for two or three minutes in silence. Why would anyone
put something like this on my desk if the information wasn’t true? At the

* pro bono work: work that lawyers do for no money to help people, usually the very poor
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Chapter 7 ~ Braden Chance and RiverOaks

bottom of the page someone had written a few words in pencil: The eviction was
wrong. ‘

[ opened the second file. There were two keys in it and a typed note. The note
read, “Top key is to Chance’s door. Bottom key is to the file drawer under the
window.”

I put the files away. I had to do some work. I also had a working lunch that
day. “Working lunch” meant chat the client was paying. Burt the law had never
seemed so unimportant and boring. I got through the day only because I knew it
was my last at Drake & Sweeney.

It was almost five before I got a few minutes alone. I said goodbye o Polly
and locked the office door from the inside. I took the files out again and began
to think and make notes. [ had an idea who had sent the files: the young legal
assistant who had called Chance a fool. Legal assistants did the evictions, and it
was his job to put documents in the file.

I phoned another legal assistant and asked him for the name of Chance’s

' assistarit, The guy was called Hector Palma. He had been with Drake 8 Sweeney
abouit three years, all in real estate.
* We met in the library on the third floor. Hector Palma was very nervous.

“Did you put those files on my desk?” T asked him. There was no time to play
pames. S

“What files?” His eyes went around and around the room, looking ac.
everything except me.

“The RiverOaks evicrion. You were there, right?”

“Yeah,” he said.

“What's in the RiverOaks file?”

“Bad stuff.”

“Tell me.”

“I have a wife.and four kids. I need this job.”

“You'll be OK.”

“You're leaving. What do you care?”

T-wasn't surprised he knew. People talked. I was news. “So, before I léave, you
wanit mé to go into Chance’s office and take a file. And T cant be sure what’s in ie?”
“Do what you want.” And he ran out of the library.

I went back to my office and made some more notes. I would lose my job if I
was-caught taking the file, but [ was already leaving. It would be much worse if
T was-caughe in Chance’s office with 2 key that wasn'c mine. I dldnt like the idea
at all. :

Then there was the problem of copying the file. Some Drake & Sweeney files
were very thick, T would have to stand in front of a photocopier for a Jong rime.

37









The Street Lawyer

“IL don't know. In an hour maybe. Why?”

“I'm going back to Drake & Sweeney for a couple of hours. I have some last
minute stuff they want me to finish. Then I'd like to come back here late. Would
that be possible?”

Mordecai was eating his sandwich. He reached into a drawer and threw me a
key. “Come and go as you please,” he said.

“Will it be safe?”

“No. So be careful. Park as close to the door as you can. Walk fast. Then lock
yourself in.”

T walked fast to my car at seven-thirty. The sidewalk was empty. My Lexus was
fine. Maybe I would be OK on the streets.

The drive back w0 Drake & Sweeney took eleven minutes. If it took thirty
minutes to copy Chance’s file, then it would be out of his office for about an
hour. And he wounld never know. _ _

Real estate was empty. I knocked on Chance’s door. No answer. I used the key
to his door and went in. Should ] tiurn on the light? It was' dark—1I would have
to. I locked the door, turned on the light, went to the bottom file drawer under
the window and unlocked.it with the se¢ond key.

I found the RiverOaks file and was reading through it when a voice outside
shouted “Hey!” and I jumped. A conversation started autside. Two guys were
talking baseball. I turned off the lights, hstcmng to their talk. Then I sat on
Chance’s sofa for ten minutes.

I could pur the file back. If they saw me leaving Chances office, nothmg
would be done. It was my last day. But if they saw me taking a file, that was very
different. “Be patient,” I told myself. After baseball, théy started ralking abour
girls. I chink they were a couple of young legal assistants, working late. Then,
finally, it was quiet. :

I locked the drawer in the dark cnpened the door, and went out. “Hey!”
shouted someone behind me. I ran. I ran to the back of the: building, got into. the
Lexus, and drove off. “That was stupid,” I theught. “Why did I fun? Why didn’t
[ talk to the guy?” I still worked at Drake & Sweeney, didn't 2~

That was my last thought before the Lexus was hit by 2 Jaguar speeding -
down 18th Street. I remember a voice saying, “I don't see any blood.” And then I -
remember Claire sitting by my bed at the George Washirigton University Medical

Center.
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Hector Palma

“Michael, you won't be a lawyer when theyve finished—not here,
not anywhere. You're going to lose your license.”

I woke up at seven in the morning and a nurse gave me a note from Claire. It
was a really sweet note. It said that she had to go to work and that she had
spoken to my doctors and I probably wouldn't die. Claire and I must look like a
happily married couple to the doctors and nurses. Why were we getting a divorce?

My left arm was blue. My chest hurt when I breathed. I looked at my face in
the bathroom. There were some small cuts, but nothing that wouldn't disappear
over the weekend. A nurse told me the Jaguar had been driven by a gang member
who sold drugs. “Welcome to the streets,” I thought, as I tried not to breathe too
much.

The doctor came at seven-thirey. No bones were broken.

They wanted me to stay in hospital for one more day, just to be safe, but I
said no.

I had to find a new apartment. The first real estate office sent me to an
apartment at Adams-Morgan, north of Dupont Circle. It was three little rooms at
the top of a house. Everything in the bathroom worked, the floor was clean, there
was a view over the streets. I took it.

That evening I went back to my old apartment to see Claire. We ate a
Chinese carryout. Our first ever meal together had been a carryout. And this was
our last meal together as husband and wife. Claire had the divorce papers waiting
for me on the table and I signed them. In six months I would be single.

“Do you know someone called Hector Palma?” she asked, halfway through
the Chinese dinner.

My eyes opened wide. “Yes.”

“He called an hour ago. Said he had to talk to you. Who is he?”

“A legal assistant with Drake & Sweeney. He wants me to help him. He has a
problem.”

“Must be a big one. He wants to meet with you at nine tonight, at Nathan’s
on M Street.”

“Why a cafeteria?” I said, half to myself, half to Claire.

“He didn't say. He sounded strange on the phone.”

Suddenly, I wasn't hungry. I finished the meal only because I didn’t want to look
worried in front of Claire. But it wasn’t necessary. She wasn't even looking at me.

I walked to M Street. Parking is impossible on a Saturday night. It was raining
and my chest hurt. As I walked, I thought about what to say. I thought of lies
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I could tell. After taking the file, it seemed easier to lie. Hector might be there
for Drake & Sweency. He might be wired to record what I said. I would listen
carefully and say little.

Nathan’s was only half-full. I was ten minutes early but he was there, waiting
for me at a table in the corner. As I came in, he jumped up from his seat and put
his hand out. “You must be Michael. ’'m Hector Palma from real estate. Nice to
meet you.” Huh? Didn't we meet in the library?

We sat down. He started kicking me under the table. I understood. He was
wired and they were watching. A waiter came. I ordered black coffee and Hector
asked for a beer.

“I'm a legal assistant in real estate,” Hector explained as the drinks arrived.
“You've met Braden Chance, one of our partners?”

“Yes,” I said. As they were recording everything I said, I would say as little as
possible.

“I work mainly for him. You and I spoke for a minute one day last week when
you visited his office.”

“If you say so. I dont remember seeing you.”

wired /waizd/ (adj) with recording equipment hidden under your clothes
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He smiled and I kicked him back under the table. We both understood the
situation now.

“Listen. I asked you to meet me because a file is missing from Braden’s office.”

“And you think I took it?”

“Well, no, but it could be you. You asked for that file when you went into his
office last week.”

“So you do think I took it?” I said, angrily. “Well, go to the police.”

Hector Palma drank some of his beer. “Drake 8 Sweeney have already gone
to the police,” he said. “The police found an empty file in your desk with a note
about two keys. One to the door, the other to a file drawer. They also found your
fingerprints on the file drawer.”

I hadn't thought about fingerprints. Drake & Sweeney took everybody’s
fingerprints when they joined the company. But that was five years ago and 1 had
forgotten about it.

“We might want to speak to you about all this again later,” said Hector Palma.

I picked up my coat and left.

*

fingerprints /'fing>,prints/ (n pl) the marks made by the lines at the ends of your fingers
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I spent my first working day at the 14th Street Law Center getting the file back
from the wreck of the Lexus. Mordecai helped me. We had to go to Georgia
Avenue, where the police keep wrecked cars. I told Mordecai that the file was
important but not what was in it.

Back home in my new apartment, I looked at the file. RiverOaks was a real
estate company. They wanted to build a new mail office for the Washington
Post Office and then rent the building to them. They had bought the warehouse
where DeVon Hardy and Lontae Burton lived and they wanted to pull it down
and start rebuilding.

They were in a hurry. They wanted to start pulling the warehouse down in
February. On January 27, Hector Palma visited the warehouse. His note about
that visit was on the list of documents in the file, but it wasn't actually in the file.
Somebody had taken it out, almost certainly Chance, after Mister had visited us.

wreck /rek/ (n/v) a car that cannot be repaired because it is so damaged
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On Friday January 31, Hector Palma returned to the warehouse, with the
police, and evicted the people who were living there. The eviction had taken
three hours. Hector Palma’s note about it was two pages long. Although he tried
to hide whart he felt, it was clear that he disliked being part of the eviction.

He described how Lontae Burton had fought with the police. My heart
stopped when | read: The mother had three childven, one, a baby. She lived in a
two-raom apartment with no bathvoom. They slept on the floor. She fought with the
policemen while her childven watched. In the end she was carvied out of the building.

I drove to 14th Street and copied the file. Then I went back to my old
apartment. Claire was at the hospital. I took my sleeping bag, 2 few suits, my
radio, the small TV from the kitchen, my CD player and a few CDs, a coffeepot,
a hair dryer, and three blue towels.

[ left a note telling her 1 was gone. I didn't know what I felt. I bad never
moved out before; I'wistt sure how it was done. As I drove away, I dldnt feel
happy to be single again, Claire and I had both lost.

Back at the 14th Street Law Center, my fitst visitor was my old friend Barry
Nuzzo. He sar. dawn carefully in the chair opposite my desk—he didn’t want to
get dirt on his expensive suit. Was he wired, like Hector Palma? Maybe they had
sent Barry because he was my friend and also one of Mistei’s guests that Tuesday
afternoon.

“So you 're here for the money?” he said. Joke,

“Of course.” 7

“You're crazy. They're going to come after you, Michael. You can't take a file.”

“You mean a criminal lawsuir for thefe?” '

“Probably. And they ralked to the Bar Association.* Rafter’s working on it.
Michael, you won’t be 2 lawyer when they've ﬁmshed——-—»not here, not anywhere.
You're golng o lose your license.”

I wast’t ready for that. “T have the file. The ﬁlc has plenty of information
about Drake & Sweeney in it.”

“You can't use the file, Michael. You can’t use it in a lawsuit because you took
it from our offices and that’s theft.”

I said nothing. I didn’t know what I was going to do. But I knew I couldn’t
give the file back now. I had nothing else in the fight against Drake & Sweeney.
Barry stood up to leave.

“Will you phone me some time, Michael?” he said, at the door.

“Sure.”

* Bar Association: a professional group for lawyers which gives lawyers their license
P group g wye

theft /Geft/ {n} the crime of stealing something
license /'laisens/ (n) an official document that gives you permission to do something
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| Were youright?

Look back at Activity 4. 4. Then answer these questions, Yes or No.

Do the partners at Drake & Sweeney want Michael to leave?
Do they want to stop him doing pro bono work? .
Does Arthur Jacobs have a good opinion of Braden Chance?
Does Hector Palma help Michael?

i o W N =

Did the Burton family live in the same warehouse as DeVon Hardy?

| What more did you learn?
Put these events in the right order. Number them, 1-8.

[ ] Michael takes the RiverOaks file from Chance’s office.

[ | Michael has a meeting with Palma in Nathan's cafeteria.

[ Michael is hurt in a car crash.

| ] Someone puts keys to Chance’s office on Michael's desk.

[_] Michael's friend, Barry, tells him that Drake & Sweeney know that he has
stolen the RiverQaks file.

lj Michael finds a new apartment.

7 | | Michael goes to the 14th Street Law Center and gets a key to it from Mordecai.

8 || Michael gets the file from his car and copies it.
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m Language in use The note from Claire said that she
Look at the sentence on the right, a had to go to work and that she

report of Claire’s note. Then write had spoken to my doctors and |
reports of these notes in the same way. probably wouldn't die.

Pl i . "
LA T cam use the comer at
i ¢ the Ceater nmy fime you fike,

MMV"

1 Mchoel's note sad that he hod found a new appartment and he was

movirg 0 1+ the next f’{-o;.l}wmﬁ MorMing
o -

] What's next?

Discuss these questions. Who has done something illegal? What have they
done?

Michael Hector Palma Braden Chance
Drake & Sweeney RiverOaks Real Estate Company
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Chapter 9 - The Homeless

“Nearly impossible. There’s a long waiting list.”

“How long do they stay?”

“Maybe three months. This is one of the nicer shelters, so they're safe here.
After three months the shelter tries to find them an apartment.”

“And our clients all come from shelters?” I asked.

“Half come from the shelters,” Mordecai said. “The other half from the streets.”

“We take anybody?”

“Anybody who's homeless. The people here at this shelter have jobs, but they
don't earn enough to pay rent for an apartment. So when they get one, they lose
it again. One missed paycheck and they lose their homes.”

My first client was called Waylene, age twenty-seven, two children, no
husband. Her problem wasn’t complicated. She had worked in a fast-food
restaurant. She started to tell us why she left her job, but Mordecai said that the
reason didn't matter. She hadn’t had her last two paychecks. Because she had no
address, the restaurant had sent the checks to the wrong place. The checks had
disappeared, and nobody at the restaurant cared.

“Will you be here next week?” Mordecai asked.
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Waylene wasn't sure. Maybe here, maybe there. She was looking for 4 job, she
might move in with someone. Or get her own aparemenc.

“We'll get your money and we'll have the checks sent to our office,” said
Mordecai. He gave her the address of the 14th Sueer Law Center. She said
“thanks” and left.

“Call the fast-food restaurant,” Mordecai told me. “Tell them you're Waylene’s
lawyer. Be nice at first. If chey don't send the checks, stop being nice. If necessary,
go there and get the checks yourself”

I wrote down everything Mordecai said, like it was complicated. Waylene’s
paychecks were for two hundred and ten dollars. My last client at Drake &
Sweeney was trying to get nine hundred million dollars. But I was happy enough
when I got home at the end of the day.

L2
My new apartment now had some old chairs in ir, and the TV was on a box.
I smiled at my furniture. My mother had called. I listened to her voice on the
answerphone. She and Dad wanted to visit me.

I walked around the room until midnight, then [ went for a walk in the cold.
Why did our marriage go wrong? I told myself it didn’t matter. We
didn’t get divorced because of other people. We got divorced because of us. And
if she was free to find another guy, then I was free to find someone too. Yeah,
right.

At 2 AM. | was walking around Dupont Circle, stepping over people sleeping
in the street. It was dangerous, but I didn't care. After a couple of hours, T went
home and got some sleep. Then T wanted to work. I got to 14th Street before
eight that morning, ready to start.

As I walked through the snow, making my way to the Law Center, I thought
of my clients. By now I had a few. There was Waylene and her paychecks.
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There was also Marvis. Like me, Marvis wanted a divorce. His wife was on
drugs. She had taken everything he had, including their two children. Marvis
wanted them back.

“How long will a divorce take?” Marvis had asked me.

“Six months,” I told him.

Marvis was clean, he didn’t use drugs and he was looking for work. I enjoyed the
half hour I spent with him and I wanted to help him.

Another client was a 58-year-old woman. Her husband was dead and the
government was sending her money to the wrong place. I could ger all her money
back and then get it sent to the right place.

A lot of my clients had problems like that. They were just not getting money,
often from the government, that should be theirs.

When I réached the Law Center, a litdle woman was sitting against our door.
The office was still locked. It was below freezing in the streets. When she saw me,
she jumped to her feet and said, “Good morning, are you a lawyer?”

“Yes, I am.”

“For people like me?”

She looked like she was homeless. “Sure. Come in.” I opened the door. It was
colder inside than outside. I made some coffee and found some old cookies.
offered them to her and she quickly ate one.

“What's your name?” T asked. We were sitting in the front office, next to
Sofia’s desk, waiting for the coffee and for the office to get a little warmer,

“Ruby,” she said. '

“Im Michael. Whete do you live, Ruby?”

“Here and there.” She was berween thirty and forty, dressed in a lot of old
clothes. She was vety thin.

“Tell me,” I said, “T need to know. Do you live in.a shelter?”

“Not now,” she said. “Llive in a car. T sleep in the back.”

I poured two large paper cups full of coffee and we went into my office.

“What can I do for you?” I asked.

With both hands on the coffec.cup, to keep warm, and without looking at
me, she told me her story. She and her son Terence lived in 2 small apartment.
When Terence was about ren, she went to prison for four months for selling
drugs. Terénce lived with her sister those four months, but when Ruby came out
~ of prison they had lost the apartment. She and Terence slept in cars, warehouses,
and under bridges in warm weather. When it was cold they went to the shelters.
She couldn’t stop taking drugs. :

A few years back she had worked for a couple called Rowlands. Their children
werte grown ‘and away from home. Ruby offered to pay Mr. and Mrs. Rowlands
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CHAPTER m

Chicago
“There’s going to be a lawsuit, Hector,” I said. “Against
Drake & Sweeney. You can't hide from that.”

I was sleeping on the floor at the apartment. I liked it down there and it helped
me understand my new clients. In the middle of the night, the phone rang. It
was Claire. The police were in her apartment, wanting to search it for the file. I
looked at my watch. It was 1 A.M. “T'll be right there.”

The door was open and I ran in. There were three policemen in there and I
shouted art the nearest one. “I'm Michael Brock. Who are you?”

“Lieutenant Gasko,” said the policeman, not very nicely.

“Claire,” I shouted. “Ger the video camera. There’s going to be a lawsuit,
Lieutenant Gasko.”

lieutenant /lu'tenant/ (n) a title for a police officer
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Lieutenant Gasko showed me a document. “It’s signed by a judge,” he said.
“And it says we can search for the file.” But he knew I was a [awyer and he didn
look very happy. )

“The file’s not here because I don't live here,” I said. “Now give me your
names and then go.”

Claire was filming it all with the video camera. Their document was fine and
1 knew that. But the three policemen gave me their names and then left.

“Can they come back?” asked Claire.

“No.” :

“Thar’s good.”

“Did you tell them where I'live?” 1 asked her.

“Michael, 1 don’t know where you live. You just gave me a phone
number.”

I said goodnight and left.

I thought hard. Now I had to tell Mordecai everything. [t was possible that

the police would come to the Law Center, looking for the file.

°
Next morning I tried to phone Hector Palma from the Law Center. His secrecary
said he had left the Washington office. I put the phone down. Now what? 1
stared at the ceiling.

Mordecai came into my office. I started my story: “My wife and I got divorced.
I moved out of our apartment.”

“I'm sorry,” said Mordecai. What else could he say?

“Don't be. Early this morning, the police tried to search the apartment where 1
used to live. They were looking for a file that I ook when I left Drake & Sweeney.”

“Whar kind of file?”

“The DeVon Hardy and Lontae Burton file.”

“I'm listening.”

“I don’t think that DeVon Hardy and Lontae Burton and the others were
squatters. [ think they were tenants. And if they were tenants, the eviction was
illegal.”

“It sure was. Can't evict tenants without warning. But do you know? Or are
you guessing?”

I told Mordecai the story of the RiverQaks file. I told him that something,
probably a note dated January 27, was missing from the file.

“And what do you think is in this note?” he asked.

“I can’t be sure. But I think it’s 2 note from Hector Palma. I think he knew
they were tenants and he said that in the note. But RiverOaks wanted them out
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quickly so they could starc pulling the warehouse down. They wanted to start
the new building for the Posc Office in February. I think Hector Palma’s note of
January 27 was removed from the file so Drake 8¢ Sweeney could evict DeVon
Hardy and Lontae Burton and the others as squacters.”

“Good,” said Mordecai. “So we start a lawsuit for the family of Lontae Burton
and the other people who were evicted.”

“Yes,” I said. “That way, Hector Palrna has to tell the judge what he knows.”

“I'll contact Lontae Burtons patents,” Mordecai said. “They would be our
clients in the lawsuit.”

“Her parents are dead. But she has a grandmother.”

“Fine. She’ll be our client. But first we need to find Hector Palma.”

“I think Drake 8 Sweeney will keep him in the company. If he leaves the
company, they lose control of him. But they want him out of Washingron.

I think he’s working for Drake & Sweeney in another city. Probably a new job
with more money.”

“Sofia!” shouted Mordecai, loud enough to be heard on Capitol Hill. “Sofia,
we're looking for someone.”

Sofia came in with paper and a pencil. “I know,” she said. “I heard.” She
turned to me. “I can help. Tell me everything you know about this person.”

I rold Sofia Hector Palma’s name, address, and job. I described him and said
he had a wife and four kids.

“Age?”

“Maybe thirty.”

“How much did he get a month at Drake & Sweeney?”

“As a legal assistant? Three thousand.”

“He has four kids, so one or more will be in school. He can't send kids to a
private school on thirty-five thousand. We'll start with the schools. Then the
churches,” ‘

She went back to her desk and she was on the phone for an hour. Each
time she said hello in English, asked for the person she wanted, and then the
conversation was in Spanish.

An hour later she came back into my office. “They moved to Chicago. Do
you need an address?”

“Bur how did you . ..?”

“Don't ask. A friend of a friend in their church. They moved to Chicago last
weekend. I can ger you an address bur it will take longer.”

“I don’t need an address. I've been to Drake & Sweeney’s Chicago office a
couple of times.”

%
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Two days later I was there again. But I hadn’t flown first class, as in the old days.
I waited outside the Drake & Sweeney building from seven in the morning
while 106 lawyers—the third highest number after Washington and New York—
arrived for work.

At 8:20, Hector Palma arrived and I followed him into the building. He got
off on floor number fifty-one. There was a phone there. I phoned Mordecai and
told him about my progress. Then I phoned Megan at Naomi’s Women's Center.
Ruby was still there, doing OK. Hector Palma wasn’t going anywhere for the next
ten hours, so I had another long talk with Megan.

There was a list of partners’ names on each floor. I chose one. “I have an
appointment with Dick Heile,” I said loudly as I passed the desk. And then I
walked past the desk, down the hall.

Hector had his own office in Chicago.
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“Hello, Hector,” I said as I walked in. “So how's Chicago?”

“What ... What are you doing here?”

I sat on Hector’s desk. “There’s going o be a lawsuit, Hector,” 1 said. “Against
Drake 8¢ Sweeney. You can’t hide from that.”

I didn't feel as confident as I tried to sound.

“And who's starting this lawsuic?”

“Lontae Burton’s grandmother And later the other people who were evicted,
when we find them.”

Hector just looked at me.

“You remember Lontae, don’t you, Hector? She was the young mother who
fought with the policemen when you were evicting everyone. You felt bad about
it because you knew she was a tenant. Se you wrote that in a note, dated January
27 and you pu that in the file. But Braden Chance rook your note out again.
That’s why I'm here, Hecror. I want a copy of that note.”

“Why would I have a copy?”

“Because you'e smart, Hector. You knew that Drake & Sweeney’s evictions
were illegal. You knew how important your note was. Maybe you even guessed
Braden Chance would remove it.”

Hecror :hought about that. I guessed he wouldn't be happy hiding in
Chicago. The evictions were wrong and he knew it. He had tried to help me
once before. “Meet me at twelve in front of the building,” he said.

He was there on time, “I have four childten, please protect me,” he said, as he
gave me an envelope. I thanked him, got a taxi, and opened the envelope,

The note was dated January 27. It said that the tenants were paying one
hundred dollars a month rent on the fifteenth of every month to man called
Johnny. There was even a copy of a receipt signed by Johnny, saying thar he had
received one hundred dollars rent from Lontae Burton on January 15, It couldn’
be any clearer, They were tenants. The eviction was illegal.

At Chicago O’ Hare airport I faxed copies of the note and the receipt to
Mordecai. Then I caught the next plane back to Washingron. A taxi from
the airport took me back to 14th Street, where Mordecai and Sofia weren't
looking as happy as I had expected. Lieutenant Gasko was in the office, waiting
for me.

As hic took me oiit to the police car, Sofia was phoning fast and talking fast,
first in English, then in Spanish.-Bur she and Mordecai conldn't stop Lieutenant
Gasko taking me to Central Police Station fike any other crimindl, Drake &
Sweeney said I had taken their ﬁle, and that was theft.

‘receipt /ri'sit/ {n) a piece of paper that shows you have received something
fax /fzks/ (v) to send a document electronically down a telephone line to a machine that prints it
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Megan

‘no wedding ring on her finger.”

I t was Friday afternoon. I knew Mordecai could get me out on bail, but some
very bad things could happen to a young white boy in prison.

In the police car to Central, I tried to think about all the great people who
had spent some time in prison—Ilike Martin Luther King. But then I thought
of my parents. Their son in prison would be the end of their world. My friends
already thought I had ruined my life. I didn’t know what Claire would think.
especially as we got divorced now.

At Central, Gasko led me like a lost dog. They took everything I had in my
pockets and I signed for it. Then my photograph and fingerprints were taken.
There were police everywhere but only one other white face.

We were walking to the cells. I was scared. “Can I get bail?” T asked.

“I think your lawyer’s working on it,” Gasko said.

The cell door closed behind me. There were five other prisoners in the cell
with me, all black, all much younger than me. I sat on the floor.

In the cell opposite, I could see the white guy and hear him shouting,

Two large black men had him in a corner of the cell. They were hitting his head.
Minutes passed. One of the young guys in my cell walked over to me. This was
the end.

“Nice jacket,” he said, touching my jacket with his foot as I sat on the floor.

“Thanks,” I said, trying to sound like I meant it.

He was eighteen or nineteen. Thin. Probably a gang member who had spent
his life on the streets. “I could use a jacket like that,” he said, giving me a kick
with his foor.

“You shouldn’t be a low-life street gang member then,” I thought. “Would
you like to borrow the jacket?” I asked. I wasnt going to fight back. If I did, the
other four would help the first one.

“What did you say?”

“I said, “Would you like to borrow ... .

The kick caught me in the head and I shouted from the shock.

ER 1]

bail /beil/ (n) money that buys someone’s freedom until they have to return to a court of law
cell /sel/ {n) a small room in a prison or a police station
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“My friend said he could use a jacket like that,” said one of the other four. "A
gift would be nice.”

I quickly took off my jacket and held it toward the young gang member whao
had kicked me.

“Is this a gift?” he said, taking it.

“It’s whatever you want it to be.”

He kicked me again, hard in the head. “Is this a gift?”

“Yes.”

“Thanks, man.”

1 sat in a ball on the floor. My face hurt. The floor was getting cold. What
would happen when I needed the roilet?

“Nice shoes,” said a voice above me. I gave them to him.

Mordecai got me out on bail at 7 p.M. My bail was ten thousand dollars.

-
My friends at Drake & Sweeney had told the newspapers abour my stay in prison.
Lawyer out on bail. Was it thef3?] read, the next day. They took 2 photo of me when
1 first joined Drake & Sweeney and that was there t00. They were trying to ruin
my life. I wondered which client was paying for all the hours Rafter and Archur
Jacobs were spending on me. A client was definitely paying. A client paid for
every hour of every fawyer’s time. RiverOals, probably.

1 went in to work at 14th Street. Ruby was asleep in front of the door.

“Why are you sleeping here?” I asked. She didn’t answer. She was hungry. I
unlocked the door, made coffee, and went to find the cookies.

The phone rang. It was Megan. Ruby had left Naomi's.

“Are you taking drugs again?” I asked Ruby.

She didn’t look at me, “No,” she said.

“Yes, you are. Dort lie to me, Ruby. I'm your friend and your lawyer and I'll
help you see Terence. But I can't help if you lie to me. Now will you go back to
Naomis?”

“Yes.”

“Good. I'll take you.”

“OK.” She took another cookie, her fourth.

On the way back to Naomi’s, she said, “You were in prison.”

“How did you know?”

“You hear stuff on the street.”

When we arrived, Megan took Ruby inta the women’s group and then asked
me to stay for coffee. She threw a Washington Post to me. “Bad night, huh?” she
said with a smile.

There was my photo again. “It wasn't too bad.”
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“What's this?” she asked, pointing at my face.

“A guy in my cell wanted my shoes. He took them.”

She looked at my shoes. Old Nikes. “Those?”

“Yes. Good shoes, aren’t they?”

“How long were you in there?”

“A couple of hours. Then I got my life together. 'm a new man now.”

She smiled again.
I thought, “No wedding ring on her finger.” She was tall and a little too thin, Her
hair was dark red and short and well-cut. Her eyes were light brown, very big and
round.

I told her about me. She told me about herself. Her father was in the church
in Maryland. He liked baseball and he loved Washington. As a teenager, Megan
had decided to work with the poor. It was a job—but a job she liked.

I told her the story of Mister and how I had started working with the homeless.
She was very interested and asked lots of questions. Then she asked me to come
back later for lunch. If the sun was shining, we could eat outside. I liked that. I
thought it was nice. You can find happiness anywhere, even in a shelter for homeless
women.
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Activities 6

| Were youright?

Look at the questions in Activity 5.4 again. Complete these sentences.

Michael has taken a ............ccccoovcervisvvreeene. from the Drake & Sweeney building.

2 Hector Palma gave Michael ............cc.cccccccccciinninnnennnnn.. to Chance’s room and
file drawer.

3 Braden Chance allowed the eviction of people who were ...y
not squatters.

4 Chance is a partner in Drake & Sweeney, 50 they are ..........ccoueunmmerieriennennens fOF
his actions.

5 RiverOaks Real Estate Company evicted people illegally from a

rvoeviinennr- that they wanted to pull down quickly.

' What more did you learn?
1 Michael has some new clients at the 14th Street Law Center. Make sentences

about them.
2 whose wife is on drugs.
who wants a divorce. A 7 ( Manvis.
His name is
Michael has a client who can't see her son Ruby.
- until she stops taking Her name is
\ drugs. — Waylene.
.\‘ ’,4 — ‘}

\ who used to work in a
fast-food restaurant.

2 Are these sentences right (') or wrong (X)?

[ The police search Claire's apartment for the missing file.
[ I The file has a note in it from Hector Palma.
[ Hector Palma doesn't work for Drake & Sweeney now.

[_|Michael is kept in a police cell over the weekend.

a

b

c

d |_|In Chicago, Hector Palma gives Michael a copy of his note.
. :

f || The other prisoners beat him and steal his jacket and shoes.
g

[]Megan is in a Women's Center because she takes drugs.
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The Street Lawyer

Without looking at me, she told
me her story.

| Language in use
Look at the sentences on the right. Then
make similar sentences from each pair of
sentences below. Use without and an -ing
verb form.

| said goodnight without touching
or kissing her.

2 The police came into Claire’s apartment. They didn't warn her.

3 The polics it find anything They et thespartment.

4 RiverOaks didn't want to wait for a legal eviction. They pulled the warehouse down.
5 Michaeldid't make an appointment. He just walked o Palma’s office.

Now join these sentences with before or after and an —ing verb form.

6 Michael spent several hours in a police cell. Then he got out on bail.

7 The men kicked Michael in the head. Then they stole his jacket and shoes.

| What's next?
How do you think the story will end? Talk to other students,




CHAPTER E

The Washington Post

The photographs said it all. Because of Drake & Sweeney,
these poor peaple were dead.
he file was thick; Rafter had worked very hard. It was my copy of Drake &
Sweeney’s complaint to the Bar Association. In one sentence: I had stolen
their file, so now I should lose my license.

But it was a shock. Drake & Sweeney wanted blood, my blood. It was
frightening. Since I had started law school ten years carlier, I had never thought
of any other kind of work. What would I do without a law license?

But there was one thing Drake & Sweeney didn’t know yet. Tomorrow
morning at nine o'clock, Mordecai and I were starting a four million dollar
lawsuit against them for the death of the Burton family.
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Chaprer 12 - The Washington Post

I'went into Mordecai’s office. “What do I do?” I said.

He smiled. “Same as they did. Call the Washingzon Post.  was at college with
Tim Claussen. He's one of their best journalists.”

Next morning we told Tim Claussen about the lawsuit against Drake &
Sweeney. The Burton story was already big as a result of the march and my night
in prison, and this made it even bigger. He asked us a lot of questions and T was
happy to answer. Drake & Sweéney went to the newspapers firs.

The story was in the newspaper the next day. For an old law company like
Drake & Sweeney, it was the worst thing in the world. Arthur Jacobs’s photo
appeared next to DeVon Hardy’s. There were also photographs of Lontae Burton
taken from the march. You didu't even have to read the story; the photographs
said ic all. Because of Drake & Sweeney, these poor people were dead.

The next day ic got even worse for Drake & Sweeney. The Post Office
didn’t like all these stories in the newspapers and they didn’t want RiverOaks as
their real estate company. That left RiverOaks with nothing. RiverQaks told the
Washington Post they didn't know the evictions were illegal. A million dollar
lawsuit for lost busmess by RiverOaks against Drake &8 Sweeney was becoming
possible.

A4
Arthur Jacobs phoned Mordecai at the Law Center. He wanted to meet Mordecai
at Drake & Swecney's offices to talk about the lawsuit. Without me. Mordecai
smiled at me. “Thig-could be the meeting,” he said.

“Maybe,” T repl:cd

My furure could depend on Mordecai’s talk with Arthur Jacobs. That night
I couldn’t sleep: Mordecai was enjoying himself. He told me. aftcrwa.rd that he
couldn’t believe Arthur Jacobs was nearly eighty.” :

The old:man-told Mordecai immediately that Braden Chance was gone, He
didn’t choose to leave-Drake & Sweeney. They told him to go. Chance had been
the only oné who knew those people were tenants. I believed thar,

Mordecai showed A:l:hur Jacobs the missing note from the file,'and the
recexpt Rafter was at.thé” meeting too, with some other lawyers, and for along -
time none of them said'a word,

Then Archur Jacobs inade.a suggestion: he said he wanted to meet with us
and a judge. With the judge theré, we could decide everything on one day—the
Burton lawsuit, the theft of the file lawsuit, and the Bar Association complaint.
The judge would be Judge DeOrio, who Mordecai knew was a fair judge.

. “What do yourchink?” Mordecai asked me.
- “What do you think?”.
“I say we do it. Tll call Judge DeOrlo and arrange a time.”
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CHAPTER -
L2

t T

Burton Against Drake & Sweeney

“You put this family on the street. You've told us you did.
And thats where they died.”

e were in Judge DeOrio’s room, but this wasn't a court. There were two

lawyers from RiverOaks. From Drake & Sweeney there was Arthur Jacobs,
Rafter, Nathan Malamud, and Barry Nuzzo. Why Malamud and Nuzzo, who
were not going to speak for Drake & Sweeney? Then I understood. Malamud
and Nuzzo had gone back to work after that Tuesday with Mister. They were
fine. So why wasn’t I?

Judge DeOrio said good morning and then gave Mordecai five minutes to
make the complaint against Drake & Sweeney in the Burton lawsuit. Mordecai
needed just two minutes. He explained clearly how Drake & Sweeney's illegal
eviction led to the deaths of Lontae Burton and her children.




Chaprer 13 — Burron Against Drake & Sweeney

Arthur Jacobs spoke for Drake & Sweeney. He didn’t disagree with Mordecai
about what had happened to Lontae and her children. But he said it was, in part,
her own fault.

“There were places for her to go,” Arthur said. “There were shelters open. She
spent the night before in a church, with many other people. Why did she leave?
Her grandmother has an apartment in Northeast. Why didn’t this mother do
more to protect her little family?”

“Why was she in the street at all?” DeOrio asked, and [ almost smiled.

Arthur stayed calm. “The eviction was wrong,” he said. “We are not arguing
with Mr. Green about that. We are saying that events after the eviction were
partly the mother’s fault.”

“How much of it was her faule?” asked Judge DeOrio.

“At least half.”

“That’s too high.”

“We don't agree, Judge DeOrio.”
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The Street Lawyer

“Mr. Green?”

Mordecai stood, shaking his head in disbelief, like Arthur was a first-year law
student. “These people have nowhere to live, Mr. Jacobs. That's why they're called
homeless. You put this family on the street. You've told us you did. And chat’s
where they died. We could go to court. Would you say the same thing chere?

Stand up in court, Mr. Jacobs! Say, ‘It was the mother's fault her family died.”

Arthur and the rest of the Drake & Sweeney lawyers looked scared enough at
the idea of relling a court full of black people that the Burton family’s death was,
in part, Lontac’s fault.

“Drake & Sweeney are guilty of an illegal eviction,” said Judge DeOrio
“That’s clear. | wouldn't advise you to blame the mother in a court.”

Mordecai and Arthur sat down. We had won the Burton lawsuit without
going to court. Now we would discuss how much Drake 8 Sweeney should pay.
Rafter stood up. He talked abour how much money you usually got for dead
children in lawsuits. He had read a lot of these lawsuics across the US. He offered
fifty thousand dollars for each child. He became boring. He started to discuss the
amount of money Lontae had lost because she died and so she didn't go to work.

That was added to the money you usually got for dead children. In total; be
offered seven hundred and seventy thousand dollars.

“Is that your final offer, Mr. Rafter?” asked Judge DeOtio. He lookcd like he
hoped it wasn't.

“No, sir,” Rafter said. o :
“Mr. Green.” ' i
Mordecai stood again. “We do not accept r.helr ‘offer, ]udgc DeOrio. Sir, this '

talk of the value of each child means nothing to me: I know how much I can

get if this comes to court and the people of Washmgcon decide- And tharisa

lot more than Mr. Rafter is offering. These childien were; of course, homeless
black children. Mr. Rafter, you have a son at private school. Would you take fifty
thousand dollars for him?”

Rafter looked down and didn’t reply _

“I can walk into-a Washington' court and [ can. geta ‘million dollars each

for Lontae Burton’s little children. That's the same as any child i in an expensive
school in Virginia or Maryland.”

‘The defense tearn looked at each othet. They. all had klds in: expcnsxve schools
in Virginia and Maryland. Mordecai then ralked about the last hours of Lontae
Burton and her family, as he had ac Cap1t01 Hill. He was a botn storyreller and he
had a good story to tell. His voice went up.and chen down in anger. At the end he -
pointed at the Drake & Sweency lawyers, speaking for:them. “Those people in that
warchouse,” he shoured. “They're just a bunch of squatters. Throw them-out!”™
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Chapter 13 - Burton Against Drake & Sweeney

He asked for four million dollars. It was silent in the room when he finished.
Judge DeOrio made some notes. The next thing to discuss was the file.

“Do you have the file?” Judge DeOrio asked me.

“Yes, sir.”

“Will you give it to me?”

“Yes, sir.”

Mordecai gave Judge DeOrio the file and we all sac and watched for ten
minutes while the judge read it. When he had finished he said, “The file has been
returned, Mr. Jacobs. There was a criminal lawsuit about its theft. What do you
want to do now?”

“If we can agree on the Burton lawsuis, we will stop the criminal lawsuit
against Mr. Brock for theft of the file.”

“Mr. Brock? Is that acceptable to you?”

Yes! “Yes, sir. It is.”

“Next, we have the complaini to the Bar Association by Drake & Sweeney
against Michael Brock. Mr. Jacobs?”

Arthur stood up again. He talked about why it was wrong for a lawyer to
steal a file from his own company. He didn’t seem to be enjoying iz, and he didn't
take too long about it. But I had been one of them and then I had damaged
them. They wouldn’ forgive me for that. The complaint to the Bar Association
wouldn't be stopped.

I wasn't a criminal, Arthur said, so they would stop the theft lawsuit. But
I was a lawyer and a good one. And so the complaint should go to the Bar
Agssociation.

The lawyers from RiverOaks didn’t speak, but it was clear they agreed. It was,
of course, their client’s file I had taken. And Arthur spoke so well that actually [
agreed with him too.

“Mr. Brock?” said Judge DeOrio. “Do you have anything to say?”

I hadn’t prepared anything, but T wasn't afraid to say what I felt. I looked
Arthur in the eyes and said, “Mr. Jacobs, I have always had a very high opinion
of you, and 1 still do, I was wrong to take the file and I am sorry I did ic. I was
looking for information and I was going to put the file back, but all that is no
excuse. I apologize 1o you, to Drake & Sweeney, and to your client, RiverQaks.”

Mordecai told me afterwards chat he knew immediately Drake & Sweeney
would agree to his nexr suggestion. The anger had gone ouc of the situation.

Mordecai suggested twenty-five thousand dollars each to all the people evicted
by Drake & Sweeney, when we could find them. He suggested three million
dollars for the Burton lawsuit, paid at three hundred thousand a year. And after a
lot of talk, we agreed that I would lose my license for nine months only.
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CHAPTER

A New Life

“I'm thinking about my new life,” I said.
And we both smiled.

arly Friday I was happily helping homeless people at the 14th Street Law

Center, though not, of course, speaking as a lawyer, when Arthur Jacobs
suddenly appeared at my door. I said hello nicely, though I couldn’t imagine what
he wanted. He said no to coffee. He just wanted to talk.

Arthur said that the last few weeks had been the most difficult of his fifty-six
years as a lawyer. Drake & Sweeney was OK again now, but he still couldn’t sleep.
He felt guilty about the deaths of the Burton family and he would never forget
it. And he was tired of chasing money. I was too surprised to say much, so I just
listened. Arthur was suffering and I felt sorry for him.

He asked about the Law Center and the work we did. How long had the
Center been there? How many people worked there? Where did the money come
from? This gave me an opportunity and I took it. I told Arthur that because I
couldn’t work as a lawyer, [ was starting a pro bono program. [ was going to use
lawyers from the big Washington law companies. These volunteer lawyers would
work a few hours a week and I would tell them what to do. We could reach
thousands of homeless people.

Arthur liked the idea. As we discussed it, the program grew larger. After a few
minutes, he was talking about sending all 400 of his Washington lawyers to do
pro bono work for a few hours a week.

“Would 400 lawyers be too many?” Arthur asked.

“No,” I said. “But I'll need help from inside Drake & Sweeney. I know
someone. He’s at the Chicago office, but I'm sure you can get him back.”

As I had guessed, Arthur knew nothing about Hector Palma or how he had
helped me get the RiverOaks file. Hector would be back in Washingron in a
month, working with me.

Arthur stayed in my office for two hours. He was a much happier man
when he left. He had a purpose in life. [ walked him to his car and then ran to
tell Mordecai the good news. We could help as many homeless people as we
needed to.

ki
Megan’s uncle owned a house near Fenwick Island, right near the ocean.

We left Washington Friday afternoon. I drove and Megan told me where
to go. And Ruby sat in the back seat, eating cookies, excited by the thought of
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Chapter 14 — A New Life

spending a few days outside the city. Megan had told me very clearly that chere
were three bedrooms in her uncle’s house—one for each of us.

It rained Saturday—a cold shower that blew in from the ocean. Megan and I
sat and watched it out of the window.

“Where’s our client?” T asked.

“Ruby? Watching TV. What are you thinking?” she asked quietly.

Everything and nothing. Thirty-two days earlier I had been married to
another woman, living in a different apartment, and doing different work. I
didn’t even know the woman who sat next to me now. How could
life change so much in a month?

“I'm thinking about my new life,” I said.

And we both smiled.
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Talk abo

Work in groups of four. Each of you will be one of the people described below.

It is six months after the end of the story. Since then:

Claire, is now married to another lawyer called William.

+ Michael has spent a lot of time with Megan. He is going to ask her to marry him

very soon.

Mordecai Green has had a heart attack. He is fine now, but he can’t work hard, so
Michael is running the 14th Street Law Center with Mordecai as his assistant.
Drake & Sweeney lawyers have done a lot of pro bono work with the homeless,
and Michael is the main contact in arranging this work.

A city television station is making a program about the pro bono work that the
lawyers are doing in the city.

!

Student A:

Student B:

Student C:

i

I|I Student D:|

You are the TV interviewer. You will ask the three lawyers questions.
You have these questions for Michael:

+ What happened to make you leave Drake & Sweeney and work for
the homeless?

+ Did this change your home life at all? What did your wife and
parents think about it?

Prepare mare questions for Michael and the other two lawyers.

You are Michael. Prepare answers for the questions that the
interviewer may ask about your life and your work.

You are Mordecai Green. Prepare answers for questions about
Michael’s work at the Law Center and the RiverOaks case.

You are Arthur Jacobs. Prepare answers to questions about Michael's
work for Drake & Sweeney and how he was going to be a partner.

Act out the TV interview.
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\Write about it

It is now one month after the TV program. Michael and Megan have got married.
You are a reporter for a Washington paper. Write a piece about the wedding.
Include background information about the couple, who they are, how they met,
and the work they do,

Lawyer with a Heart Marries
Head of Women’s Center

It was a very happy day for
hundreds of the city’s poor and
homeless on Saturday, October
6, when Michael Brock of the
14th Street Law Center married
Megan O’Keefe from Naomi’s

Women's Center.




Lo S

There are always homeless people, in rich and poor countries. Why is this?
Work with other students and make notes on all the reasons you can think of.
Use the pictures to help you.




Project FHomeless

Wars and natural disasters are, of course, responsible for many people
becoming homeless. But even when there are no wars and natural disasters,
there are people without homes. Imagine that you and your family are
homeless. What problems would you have? Work with other students and add

to the notes.

homelessness

violence

medical
care

sickness

Think about your own country. Discuss these opinions with your class. Do you
agree? Why (not)?

It should be a crime to ask

Most people are for money on the street.
homeless because
they're lazy. They The people with the
should get jobs and worst problems are
earn some money. People come to this not well. They need
country with nothing, our help.

then just sleep on
the streets. They
should be sent home. | People shouldn't be
' allowed to live in boxes
The government must on the street.
make houses cheaper - .
so everyone can Everyone should be given a

afford a place to live. home by the government.

—
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Project Homeless

o What do you think should be done about the problem of homelessness in
your country? Write a letter to your local newspaper and give your opinions.

Use the headings below to help you.

Give your reason for writing
et L RGO SRR SR s (R L T (B

............................................................................................................

What do you think should be done about the problem?
We connot let homelessness continue We need 1o toke action 1o

......................................................................................................




